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SENATE, No, 2241
 STATE OF NEW JERSEY

INTRODUCED SEPTEMBER 28, 1995
By Senators CONNORS and KOSCO

A SUPPLEMENT to "An Act making appropriations for the support of the State
Government and the several public purposes for the fiscal year ending June
30, 1996 and regulating the disbursement thereof,” approved June 30, 1995
(P.L. 1995, c. 164). ' '

BE IT ENACTED by the Senate and General Assembly of the State of New
dersey: '

1. Upon certification by the Director of the Division of Budget and
Accounting in the Department of the Treasury that federal funds to support the
expenditures listed below are available, the following sum is appropriated:

FEDERAL FUNDS ‘
26 DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS
16 Detention and Rehabilitation
7025 System-Wide Program Support

13-7025 Institutional Program Support............ ... $600,600
Special Purpose:
Reimbursement for

Il1legal Alien Inmates........... PUNP ($600,600)

2. This act shall take effect immediately.

STATEMENT

This bill appropriates $600,600 in Federal funds from the United States
Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Assistance to the Department of
Corrections for reimbursement for costs associated with the incarceration of
illegal aliens in State correctional institutions. -

Supplemental appropriation of $600,600 in Federal funds to the Department of ‘
Corrections for reimbursement for illegal aliens.
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'SENATOR LOUIS F._Kosco (Chairman): We're going to
call the roll. |

MS . STEFANE: (Coﬁmittee'Aide) »Senatdrlo’Connof.

SENATOR O’CONNOR: Here. |

| MS. STEFANE: Senator Cafiero.

SENATOR CAFIERO: Here.

MS. STEFANE:_ Senator Kosco.

SENATOR KOSCO: Here. |

MS. STEFANE: You have a quofum, Mr. Chairman. o

SENATOR KOSCO: We’'re going to first have a vote dn
the bili S~2241 while we have a quorum,'and then we’1ll continuev
with the hearing. Senator Cafiero has to go across the hall and
chair the Judiciary meeting that weVré also supposed to,bé at.
So he’s going to chair the meeting.

Mark us present so weill be aii set over there, Okay?‘

SENATOR CAFIERO: Okay. | B

SENATOR KOSCO: Senate Bill No. 2241 appropriates
$600,600‘t6 the Department of Corrections. It’s a grant from
the Justice Assistance Sﬁate Criminal Alien Assistance Program,
and.it’s sponsored by.Senator'O’Connor and myself.
| .Any'other commenté?

SENATOR'O’CONNOR: Move the bill.

SENATOR KOSCO: Move the bill.

Anyone have any comment on the bill? Seconded?

SENATOR CAFIERO: Seconded;

SENATOR KOSCO: The roll call. |

MS. STEFANE: Senate Bill No. 2241: Senator O’Connor.

SENATOR‘O’CONNOR: Yes. '

MS. STEFANE: Senator Cafiero.



SENATOR CAFIERO: Yes. _

MS. STEFANE: Senator Kosco.

SENATOR KOSCO: Yes.

MS. STEFANE: The bill is released.
SENATOR KOSCO: You can go home now.

. UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM‘AUDIENCE: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Come out and see our cell'latef on this mbrning.
Thanks a lot.

| 'SENATOR KOSCO: Come out and see your cell. Does it
| unlock from the inside? | ” _

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:  Yes. This time.
(laughter) \ _ |
| SENATOR KOSCO: As you know, the hearing today will be .
on forfeiture laws .and whether they are prbper as they sit,
whether they should be changed, what changes should be made,
should they“be made from a standpoint of regulation or
legislation: We’ll try to determine from the short time that we
have for a hearing today what we have to do and whether we'have
to do anything. |
The Attorney-Genéral has already addressed some sf the
issues that some of us had. . We’'re going to-further study the
- forfeiture laws to find out if more has to be done and what and
who should be responsible for these funds’amongﬁother things.
| Senator O’Connor, would you have any comments to make
before we-- | ‘ ‘7 /
. SENATOR O’ CONNOR: No, ‘I think we should 1let the
professionals address us and they can certaiﬁly respond to our
questions. | |

SENATOR KOSCO: Thank you.
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Okay. From the Division of Criminal Justice, Terrence
Féfley; I understand yéu‘fe representing the Attorney General
today. »

T E R.R ENCE P, FARLEY: Yes, Senator. ,She is
testifying,'I believe, across the hall, as a matter of fact.
| SENATOR KOSCO: Okay.

Well, there have been certain regulations that have
been changed from the use of the forfeiture funds -- I believe
it was somewhere around December 7 -- and there were some

changes that the Attorney General had made. Maybe you’d like to
review those with us.
| MR. FARLEY: Yes, sir.

‘Senator,vI thought I might just give you a little bit
of my background before I did that, Senator. I formally served
as the First Assistant Prosecutor in Ocean County and was the
Director of the Narcotics Sftrike Fofce there. Subsequent to
~that I was the Director of the National Drug Prosecution Cehter
for the National District Attorneys Association and as such
helped to draft the National District Attorneys Guidelines on
Civil Asset Forfeiture. I worked on this-- |

_SENATOR KOSCQ: - Excuse me', can you hear him'back
there? Now'you'probably can. Go ahead.

MR. FARLEY: I worked oh the State and'Federal Asset
Seizure and Forfeiture Guidelines for the Federél Government and’
the National District Attorneys. When we reviewed over the
course of_the last year; partly in response to what we saw and
in response to éome newspaper inquiries that’we had, we wanted
to make sure that we were on board with what the Federal

government and what the National District Attorneys had done in
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the.way of Asset Forfeiture Guidelines. As a result of our
studies, there were certain things that we found, and we’re
still continuing, I believe you’re aware, auditing each of the
21 county prdsecutor’s offices forfeiture funds.

v ' The newest directive does several things.

1) Funding for ény community-based}programs can only
be done on approval of the Attorney General’s Office and when
there is a substantial involvement of law enforcement in those
programs. I might add, in that regard, quite frankly, having
traveled. around the country, I waé élso an adviser to the-
President’s Commission on Model State Drug Laws and participated
in all of the public hearings around the country'in regard‘to
asset forfeiture laws. | | | '

One of the real catch-22 situations that prosecutors
- found themselves in and still find themselves in, in this State
is complaints on one side ‘from some people in the media and some
’-critics of forfeiture that we're spending too much on
community-based programs. On the other hand, from the community
organizations, we’re hearing we’re not spending anywhere near
enough of the money. So it clearly is an unusual situation from
the prosecutor’s standpoint.

In addition to the approval necessary by the Attorney
General’s Office, now there must be detailed, supporting
" documentation when any forfeiture money is expended. We have
new fiscal deadlines for all of the prosecutors to follow. We
réestablished, based upon what we saw in some real model
programs throughout the State, a detailed inventory and tracking
system for each of the prosecutors. For each and every asset

that comes into the office, we will have a complete file
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tracking it. For example, there were times when vehicles might
be used, and they might be used by a local police‘department.
If that vehicle went out of commission, was sold, or destroyed,
whatever happened to it, we might not know under the present
circumstances or the recent past circumstances exactly what

happened ‘to any value to that particular item. We will know

that now under the new system..

We cleared up the situation as far as Law Enforcement -
Trust Funds were concerned. Although there was a directive that
money should be in Law Enforcement Trust Funds, there was a
dispute or disagreement, I guess, on behelf of a few of the
prosecutors that. thet meant that they could have those
individually in their own offices and regulate them‘from'theré.
We cleared that up and made it clear that the‘funding ageney

which is the county freeholders in each of the 21 counties in

New Jersey 1is the funding agency. Therefore, the Law

Enforcement Trust Fund will now be in control of the county

treasurer, not in control of the prosecutor’s offices as it has
been in some places.

I think the ‘key, is, and I noted in’ some of the
questions here that were prepared in advance, a criticism by
some  ‘“experts” that we had the 1least stringent forfeiture
regulations in the country. I would clearly beg to differ with
you on that. As I said, having been involved‘on a State and
Federal level with this, I would think our regulations could
stand up to anybody’s in the country{ including the Federal
regulations, and are among the most stringent, rather than the
least strihgent. What we saw here is some problems, and we

tried to clear them up.



As you know, former Attorney General Del Tufo, in
1986, went through a massive review of the forfeiture system in
vNew Jersey'and cleared up what he believed to have been some
procedural problems and.some complaihts by civil libertarians in
that regard and addressed specific issues and items.

One of the other things that was noted by me in these
questions: Should forfeiture funds be used for ekpenses more
directly related to law enforcement, such as bullet proof vests,
rather than the Attorneys’ bar association dues, conVentions,
and community-based programs?" |

| 1) baf association dues are not, havevnéver_been a
permissible expenditure and are not done by any of the 21 county
prosecutors. It has never been an approved payment under New
Jersey's.system. As far as the conventidns are concerned, we do
have one convention a year that is run by the County Prosecutors
Associéﬁion in Agonjunction with ‘the Division of Criminal
Justice, which we use as a training program.

This year, for example, we had experts from all over-
the nation talkiﬁg about the five or six most important areas of
criminal Jjustice today, everything from DNA to capital
punishment, and those expenditures have been approved. No
outsiders -- there have been complaints by some that outsidefs
were being paid and things like that, and that is not an
approved expenditure.

Going back to the community-based programs: if yoﬁ
were to look at the percentages of thé moneys that are used out
of the forfeiture funds by community-based programs, ybu would
see 1initially that they are é small portion of the overail

amount, and most of the money goes to what would be considered
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traditional law enforcement purposes. -But I find it hard to
believe that prosecutors afe being criticized for doing thiﬁgs
in the community that they believe will have én impact on crime
and crime preventibn, bias-crime prevention and things 1like
that. | v | |

| I was fortﬁnate to serve under now Assemblyman, former
Prosecutor Holzapfel in Ocean County, who had one 'of the
nation's leading antidrug programs that was funded solely by
asset forfeiture. We had everything from after school programs
that involved law enforcément bfficers and teachers in several
diStricts to commu#ity education. ‘

I never once,:in the five years that I was involved in
that program and then several years discussing that program
around the country when I was with the National District
AttorneYs, ever heard a complaint by anyone of those kinds of
expenditures. We have again seen some public criticism lately
in thé papers about some spécifié programs.

I think we have addressed that now in the Attorney
General’s latest guideline. Maybe we did give too much
discretion in the earlier statute. But, quite frankly, that was
looked at by then Attorney General Del Tufo, and he felt it
appropriéte,.sinCe each of the 21 counties in New Jersey is so
unigque and we are so intensely protective of our home rule in
the State of New Jersey that the prosecutors should have had
some leeway that now that maybe they shouldn’t have had.

| The prosecutors have discussed that issue with us in
detail, and these directives that have been done‘as‘of late have

come as a result of numerous discussions between the Prosecutors



Association, the Attorney General hérselﬁ, and myself as the
Director of thé Division of Criminal Justice. |

| Another question 1is, should standard operating
procedures be issued for}each of the 21 counties? 'Again, based
on my prior statements, maybe that was a mistake on our part --
going back to ‘86 -- and we did not do that. We are in the
process, as part of the newest directive, of issuing a model
standard operating procedﬁre that will come directly from my
office and will be a directive to all of the 21 county
prosecutors so that the procedural efforts in this regard will
be identical in each of the 21 counties. |

Again, possibly an oversight, possibly a decision made

consciously because o§ the home rule situation in our State. I
think overall, if you were to talk to,péople from other states
in law enforcement,iif you were to talk to people in the Federal
government, you’re going to find very, very few complaints about
the Aéset Forfeiture Program'in New Jersey.

| Quite frankly, I have been amazed for the lést five or
six years in dealing with this on a State and Federal level of
the complaints. When you look at New Jersey’s program, back in
1992, I bélieve it was, the Attorney General looked at the
‘number of complaints that had been filed related to Asset
Forfeiture Programs in New Jersey. Out of 15,000 cases -- or,
excuse me, I think it was 21,000 cases in New Jersey -- there
were actually 15 compléints filed relating to all of thofse'
- cases.
| SENATOR KOSCO: Complaints from the criminal?
MR. FARLEY: From citizens or victims -- yés, yes:

SENATOR KOSCO: That’s an adequate statistic.




MR. FARLEY:  Out of 21,000 something 1like 15
complaints. |
| SENATOR KOSCO: Why would they complain about
something that they agreed to? I mean, most of them -- in mostr
cases, the reason that a person agreed to forfeit things is
because it got them off the hook for a larger -- they plea-
bargéined, which is andther problem thét we’ll have a hearing on
someday. So they were picked up for being a drug kingpin and
they plea-bargained so that they gave up their house and their
whatever, ahd they got off with a five-year sentence instead of
.life in prison. Why would that person even think about
complaining?

MR. FARLEY: Well, the nature of the beast, Senator,
I think is the answer.

SENATOR KOSCO: I don’t think that we can use that as
a measure. |

MR. FARLEY: No.

Senator, I'll tell you, if I may be allowed to digfess
for just one minute, an anecdotal situation that I’ve never
forgotten from the day that it occurred. .When I was in the
| prosecutor’s office in Ocean County, although I was the Director
of the Strike Force, I would say I spent 30 to 40 percent of my
time doing antidrug and anticrime things and spent a lot of time
in schools with community groups around the -- not only Ocean
County, but around the State. |

I was putting on a program at a high school in QOcean
County, and we brought in a young man from another county who
was a convicted drug dealer. He was serving time; he was 15

years old; he looked to be about 22; he was about 6 foot 5 or 6
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foot 6 -- looked) as I said, much, much older than his age.
After he told his story about what he had done and the fact that
he was incarcerated now, one of the youngsters,aéked'him, “Why
are you saying that you’ll never go back to drug dealing again?”
In passing, he méntioned the fact that he was sérving some time,
not as an important faétdr, but it was méntioned as a factor.
He then went through the fact thatfhe had acquired two BMWs at
‘age 15, thousands and thousands of dollars worth of gold
 jewelry, thousands and thousands of dollars worth of clothing
and then said, “And you know what? The cops got it all. 1It’s
just not worth it.” | | |

I submit to you, in the overall drug enforcement area
and in the other areas where forfeiture has been so important to
law’enfo:cement, that’s what we’re looking for. We’re looking
}to make it just not wofth it for the criminals, and I think
we'’ve done a prétty effective job. Nobody’s perfect. I think
this latest directive will help address several problem areas
that had been brought up very recently.

SENATOR KOSCO: I think that there are very few
criticisms of the confiscation laws themsélves. I think that
bwhat's being questioned is the use of the money and where it
should go to. I‘think that’s the question. Should it go to the
General Fund and then be distributed? Or shduld it go-- 1Is it
fair that it goes into the prosecutor’s office and then gets‘
distributed the way the prosecutor wants? Should the sheriff’s
department be iﬁvolved in the distribution of that money?
Should the local police departments be involved in it? Should
it go into a General Fund and then have people apply for it and

the uses of it?
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I think that the uses of the money that -- and the
bqttom line is money . If somebody takes a house, they’re not
going -- you Know, it’s going to be sold, and the money is going
to go into a fﬁnd. So the use of the dollars that come into the
Staﬁe should’bé used, if I recall correctly, for new'programs.
In other words, there should be one-shot deals, if yoﬁ will.
| This year, we’re going to do this, énd'then if we
don’t get the money agaih next year, it’s.not going to have any_
effect on what’s taking place in the community, because it was
a one-shot deal. I don’t think that the money was éver intended
to be used, >as you said,.}for éxample before, to go to
conveﬁﬁions. You’re going to go to the convention anyway.

MR. FARLEY: ’Wéll-—"

| SENATOR KOSCO: Every singlevyear you’re going to go
to a convention. If wé take in no dollars next year on
confiscation laws, there are a group of people who are going to.
go to a convention, and it’s going to be funded by the Stéte.
I don’t believe that that’s a use for this money. I'm ﬁot"
sayihg you shouldn’t go to the convention. VI.agree withbwhat
goes on at }conventions.- If the participants go to the
conventions and participate in the functions and the seminars,» 
I think there is an awful lot to be gotten out of it. Should
this money be used for that -- becauée you’re going to go tb,
that anyway. | .

MR. FARLEY: Well--

| SENATOR KOSCO: It’s my understanding that thié money
is supposed to be used for new programs that will not offset the
budget appropriations, will not be effected if they don’t get

them again next year.
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MR.FFARLEY: Senator, I can clearly tell you that --
would there be'a convention without: it? . My guess 1is, yes.
Would we be: able to. afford the type of experts we have?
Probably not. Would a group'of people go? Yes. As many as we
can get to go now? Abéolutely not . ' | |

Quité frankly, the first area of everybody'’s budget --
and I'don't‘care whether you’re in private industry or yoﬁ're in
public service -- that goes is in trainiﬁg and education. We’ve
seen that consistently in law énforcement_agencies ih particular
across'the board. If the freeholders wefe to look at a budget
for a county'prosecﬁtor’s office, and we haVe'several here today
that I'm sure would agree with me, and it was a matter 6f buying
cars for the office, because they needed them, or having the
proper Weaponslversus.training, the first thing that’s going to
get lopped off that budgét is training. I don’t think there is
anything in the forfeiture law that had ever said that you have
to use it as a one-time situation, although we’ve had great
success inAusing forfeiture monéy for one-time programs.

Aé’you know, we have built or added on to several of
the police academies across the State. We have used this money
to fund law enforcement classes. For example, the 113th Class -
of the New Jersey.Staté Police was funded totally from that. I
‘can go on and oﬁ'naming specific instances, but there is'nothing‘
'in the law that I'm aware of that says we can’t use thatvfof»an
~expénse that might come up more,thén one year.

SENATOR KOSCO: Senator Gifgenti.

'SENATOR GIRGENTI: Hello, Mr. Farley.

- MR. FARLEY: Hi, Senator. How are you, sir?

o
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- SENATOR GIRGENTI: I want to apologize -- we’revat two
different Committees at the same time |

MR .. FARLEY: I understand.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: --but if I missed this maybe you
can just fill me in a little bit.

| Now, you have the new ‘guidelines ~that. have been
developed by the Attorney General that we see. Could you be
just‘ablittle'specific in terms of what exactly -- when will
this be implemented, is it immediately? And just a little bit
of specificity about it?

i MR. FARLEY: The impiementation of those guidelines is
immediate. The one thing thet»is not implemented immediately
because it’s not finalized -- the Senator asked about standard
operating procedures. Point by point, document by document, the
general outline of what 1is going to be done is in those
directives, but my staff is in the process now of doing an»SOP
book that will show everybody, this is the type ofbinventory
form that you use, this is the type of form you use for the next
thing, and so'on. So that they can actually generate a file
just by following the procedures, but, yes, they went into
effect immediately.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All right, in that you’ll set up a
trust account, each prosecutor wiil set up a trust account?

MR. FARLEY: Automatically, they have had truet
accounts. I explained earlier that one of the questions
apparently was, did the trust account stay within the ambit of
the prosecutor’s office or did it go to the funding agency, that
being the county freeholders? There was some question in a few

of the counties. We’ve made it clear now that the funding

-
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agency, the freeholders, would have tﬁat.trust account) and that
applies not only to the county prosecutor’s offices, but to the
funding agencies for each of the municipal police departments in
the State that are eligible for forfeiture proceeds.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: = 1In the final determination,‘if
there is é gray area, would it be the Attorney General’s Office?

~MR. FARLEY: That is correct, sir.

Especially on the community-based programs where the
most Questionsvhave come, no community-based program can go--
Let’/s assume it was a local police agency that wanted it. They
first have to get approval from the prosecutor. If he appioves
it, it still must come to us for final approval. He has the
right to reject it right at his level, or she.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: All present, according to -- I just
looked at some draft to the guidelines I guess-- EVerything has
to be updated as of April of 1996 in terms of all accounts out
there so that we can have an accounting of everything.

MR. FARLEY: That’s correct. There were financial
‘guidelines in the last directives. Again, there was apparently
some confusion in one or two of the counties. Moét of the
fiscal documents are there. A couple of counties misunderstood
what it meant. We’ve set a deadline now for each of the
counties as to what fiscal documents must be there and a
guideline for what must happen each year thereafter.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Thank you. _

SENATOR KOSCO: Specifically, one section of the law
says very clearly the use of forfeiture funds .- 13:77-2.5 --
“funds derived from forfeiture property may be expended only for

law enforcement procedures as defined in N.J.A.C. 13:77-1.4.
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'All expenditures are subject~td éertification.of‘availébility‘by'
the funding entity, which certifiéatiOn_ should not be
unreasonably and untimely Withheld.. Forfeiture'funds shall not
be a source of revenue to meet normal operating needs of the law
enforcement agency. No funding entity shall anticipate
forfeitures or proceeds therefrom in the adoption and the
approval of their budget and its law enforcement agency.”

MR. FARLEY: Absolutely.

SENATOR KOSCO:“ That’s pretty clear to me that you're
going to go to the convention anyway. You shouldn’t -- you
don'’t uée this money.‘_It is pretty clear to mé. It'éaYS, if
you need 10 new cars that should be part.of'your budget, it
- shouldn’t come outféf this fund. Because you’re going to bﬁyH
the cars anyway.

MR. FARLEY: Perhaps, we’re getting into semantics,

Senator.

SENATOR KOSCO: I don’t think it is. |

MR. FARLEY: I don’t want to do that. What I said to
you 1is, obviously, you cannot anticipate those funds. They

cannot be part of your normal budget, no one disagrees with
that. But what i indicated to you as far as training, would we
have a convention? 'Yes,'we'would have a convention. Would we
be able tb have the number of people that we can get there in a
way of assistant prosecutors and detectives? The answer is
absolutely not, because the funding agenciés, as I said,
clearly, and talk to anybody in law enforcement about that --
and I know you have a lot of friends in law enforcement -- who;~

will verify what I'm telling you.
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One of the first places law enforcement budgets get
cut all the time are in training matters. If you were to say
that we couldn’t use this money for trainihg for that particular
convention, which is the only one I think it ever covers, what
would happen is the number of investigators, the number of
assistant prosecutors would be cut dramatically because we
‘wouldn’t be able to afford to do it.

- SENATOR KOSCO: Any other questions?

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Just -- were you-- Obviously, now
with this new set of guidelines you’re tightening up in terms of
the program, and aétually the'discretion would not be as much
with the prosecutor as with the AG in terms of, like you said,
questionable areas. Have you-- A lot of these probléms that
were cited in the papers, and so forth -- were they areas that
were cohfirmed by the AG’s office or were they just areas that
probably were within the discretion of the prosecutor and it was
a gray area, because it could be ihtrepreted -- I understand
“that they can be interpreted either way .

MR. FARLEY: I mentioned before -- I think while you
were across the hall -- one of the biggest probléms that
prosecutors have faced, not only here, but throughout the
country, when it comes to dealing with community—based programs
is they find themselves in the most obvious catch-22 situation.
You have community leaders, who are doing antidrug, anticrime,
drug rehabilitation programs, and things like that, screaming at
the prosecutors that you'revspending too much money on law
enforcement and not enough on the community problems and getting
to the roots of the criminal issue. On the othér hand, you have

pecple saying in law enforcement, “Well, you’re giving too much
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money, ” or the newspapers, in this particular case, complaining
| about that. I don’t think there was a single‘case there that an
argument couldn’t be made by'the particular prosecutor who
backed the program that I believeVUndér these guidelines this
was a completely legitimate pfogram and here’s why.

The concern of the Attorney General here, based on her
reviewb of ail’ of these things, is that she  felt .that a
substantial involvementvby law enforcement had to be theré in
‘each prbgram. Each‘program had to be detailed, and we had to
have an accounting of how everything was'spent, and that’s what
she did by this directive. A great deal of discussion between
the Attorney General and my office and the County Prosecutors
'Association went to ﬁhat very issﬁe, which was one of the hearts
- of this overall directive in my estimation, Senator.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: So you think that one of the
problems, obViously, was that tliere was a lack of guidelines in
the past in terms of -- there is a IOOSéness there, and it
allowed interpretation to be given.

MR. FARLEY: As I mentioned before, also, an
intentional looseness, if you wént to call it, an intentional
amount of discretion, because of the nature of New Jersey, that
our 21 counties ére so diverse that we felt that uthe_k
prosecutor’s office or then Attorney General felt that that
prosecutor had a better handle on what local problems were‘and
who was doing the right thing in the community and where the
money could best be spent. We see that that’s led to some
problems, and if it doesn’t work that way, then you have to take
the next step and put less discretion in there, and that’s what

was done.
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SENATOR GIRGENTI: Thank you.

MR. FARLEY: Thank you, sir.b

SENATOR KOSCO: Senator O’Connor.

SENATOR O’CONNOR: Mr. Farley, according to one of the
memos that was prepared for us, which basiéally'summarizes the

new guidelines that you promulgated last week, there is some

discussion with respect to the use of funds -- forfeiture funds
for community programs. It's my understanding that under the
directive the prosecutor has to -- the county prosecutor has to

review the proposed use of funds for community-based programs
and then has to make a recommendation to YOur office which has
the approval authority. But I’'m advised'that-there is not a
similar screening requirement for meals and various other
organizational}functions such as bar association dinners, law
enforcement testimonial retreats,vand the like. I know that
that’s one of the areas that there was some criticism of the
forfeiture laws in the past, in that people went on retreats,
golf retreats, and things of this nature. Given thét, I'm
curious as to why you did not also extend the review process and
approval process to those areas.

_ : MR. FARLEY: Your questi¢n‘encompasses a couple of
things, Senator. Let me again, just repeat what I said. As far
as bar association fﬁnctions and dues are concerned, that is not
an allowable expenditure. It never has been. There have been
expenditures allowable for law enforcement related groups and
for attendance at law enforcement related functions. I think
the reason, and I'm going to conject -- give you some conjecture

rather than a definité answer.
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In all of these discussions, there wasn’'t a single
- prosecutor who raised an objection td looking at this program a
little more tightly than we had in the past. |

vI don’t think_any'of the criticisms that have been
raised in the newspapers are going to go unheeded by the 21
county prosecutors in New Jersey in whom we have a great deal of
faith. To say that you can, under this circumstance, use the
money for that particular program, again, you’re just taking
away éome of the discretion that I think both the Attorney
General and myself think those prosecutors have to have. By and
large,'the vast, vast percentage of all this money has been
spent‘perfectly properly over all of the years.

7 I think as far as the criticism of a particular event,

- should that come up, it would be looked at, and I don’t believe
aﬁy prosecutor at this point is going to take what they would
consider a questionable expenditure and make it without first
consulting the guidelines or someone in my office.

SENATOR O’CONNOR: Thank you.

MR. FARLEY: Thank you, sir.

SENATOR KOSCO: Any other questions? (no response)

Thank you.

MR. FARLEY: Thank you, Senator.

SENATOR KOSCO: Hudson County Prosecutor Carmen
Messano. |
CARMEN MESSANO, ESQ.: Good morning,’Mﬁ. Chairman.
If I may, can I alsovbring up with me at this time the President
of }our Association the Hunterdon County Prosecutor, Sharon
 Ransavage, who actually has a statement to make to the

Committee?
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SENATOR KOSCO: Certainly.

SHARON B. RANSAV A G E, ESQ.: Am I on now? Yes.
| SENATOR KOSCO: Yes. ,

MS. RANSAVAGE: Thank you. Good morning.

- Director Farley addressed many of the concerns and
issues that I hoped to address with all of you, but I think it’s
important to give everyone an overview of the law with regard to
forfeiture, so that cdnfusions are clarified and so that
everyone understands that a prosecutor is simply not able to go
out and seize assets and take whatever action he or she thinks
is appropriate, that there is a process that is set forth in the
statute that we must follow before we even get to the issue of
- what are we going to do with fhe proceeds of those forfeitéd
assets. So if you would allow me, I’'d like to just give an
overviéw and then make a few remarks with regard to the
importance of forfeiture.

First of all, it is something that is not a modern
inVentioﬁ. Forfeiture existed at common law. It is a civil
remedy to seize property that was known to our founding fathers.
- What kind of property are we able to seize under this clear
directive of the statute? First of all, property that is, per
se, contraband. Clearly, we are capable of seizing drugs,
illegally possessed fire arms, drug paraphernalié,'and SO on.
We also are able to seize property which is intended to be
utilized in furtherance of an uhlawful activity.

So. for example, a car that is pulled over on the
highway and is discovered to have a hidden compartment to
conceal drugs and cash and, in fact, drugs are found is also

perceived to be property that is intended to be used. The
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property}itself is therefore subject to seiZure, property which
is iﬁtended torbeCOme an integral part of such illegal activity,
such as money: used to purchase drugs or for an illegalygambling
operation, and the proceeds themselves of such activity, sdch,as‘
drug money. It is'fair to say that most assets'eeized'by law
enfercement are related to narcotics trafficking. , |

‘How'does, in fact, a seizure occur? Well, first of
all, itvcan eccur when a law enforcement officer seizes an asset
or property as evidence,pending a criminal prosecutioﬁ. |

| Clearly, no one would dispute the ability of an
officer te seize a car that has a hidden compartment to enable
the assistant prosecutor, who will be going into court to
convince a jury that these three individuals were involved in
drug trafficking, to be able to utilize that car as evidence in
the_proceeding. But a seizure can also occﬁr upon process being
issued by a court of competent juriediction.' I think it is fair
to say thét 99.9 tenths of the time, asséts‘are seized pursuant
to a criminal investigation and.prosecution.

What 1is the procedure that is followed once these.
assets are seized? If the prosecutor, ~who_is the chief law
enforcement officer in his or her county; determines ‘that
property‘is subject to gforfeiture,_ such forfeiturve must be
enforced by a civil action instituted_within 90 days of seizure.
The‘only exception to that is if in the context of a plea
agreement forfeiture‘eCCurs; that 1is, the individual who has
interest in the property consents to its seizure.

An individual with a known interest in the property is
given' a notice and, opportunity to be heard at a judiCial

hearing. No property can be forfeited to the State without the
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eonsent of theeowner or.purSuant to a court order.. The State
has’the’burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence,
that property should be forfeited. I think it’s important to
understandvthe difference in the standard because semetimes I've
read articles in the press,where it is ‘alleged that an innocent
individual had their car seized and forfeited.

-Well, in a civil pfoceeding, we do not have te prove
| beyond a reasonable doubt to a jury of 12 individuals that this
was likely the proceeds of an illegal actiVity; We simply need
to prove that it’s more likely than not that this asset or this
property was used in furtherance of criminal activity;

The standard'is very different. SOmetimes OffenderS"
who are hot prosecuted for a variety of reasons -- they are
fugitives, for example, or there are insﬁfficient proofs to
actually establish beyond a reasonable doubt that they were
einvolved in criminal activity —-_nonetheless'default, rather
than respond to the court process end have to explain how they
came to have this property. | ‘

Innocent third parties are protected under the
statute. All they need to do is establish by a preponderance of
‘the evidence that the owner was not involved in or aware of the
uhlawal activity. So for example, the mother or father who
lent their car to their Chlld who goes out and sells drugs has
an 1nnocent owner defense. .

Title to the forfeited property is vested) in the
funding authority. It benefits the funding authofity who would
otherwise have to come up with the money to fund the prosecuting
agency. The county prosecutor or the Attorney General, whoever

is the prosecutlng authorlty, can, in fact, determine that title
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should be vested in a local government or in a local police
department as a result of their contribution.or an involvement
in a criminal investigation. The actual burden of litigating
forfeiture falls on the county prosecutor. |
| All of us have assietant prosecutors in our office
aSSigned to forfeiture proceedings. This is a matter that takes
some time. They must prepare a complaint file, serve certain
documents  on the defense, prepare and respond to. their
interrogatories, and litigate the issue when necessary. Some
forfeitures are, in fact, resolved by plea agreement with a
defendant pleading guilty to the crime which was the basis for
the forfeiture argument in the first place. |
| All of usdunderstand clearly that forfeiture cannot be
exacted as a means of achieving a plea agreement. Whatever is
the appropriate sentence in the context of the criminal activity
is the appropriate sentence, and if necessary, we'll proceed
separately on the civilvvprocedure to determine whether a
forfeiture is also appropriate.and in what amount.
Rules and regulations have been promulgated by'the
Attorney General that more specifically define the division and
~distribution ‘of property which c¢an be forfeited, including
criteria that are to be dtilized in determining the contributive
share to be provided to each law enforcement agency that is
involved. There is a requirement that moneys be kept in a
separate Law Enforcement Trust Fund, as Director Farley already
indicated, and that money must be disbursed in accordance with
the accepted budgetary provisions of the funding entity. The
money is also subject to an annual audit.  There is a

requirement that forfeited assets, our funds, may be expended
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only for a law enforcement purpose, and I think that is the
issue that we have been focusing on today. |

Recently, that has been discussed in the prees, and we
recognize‘that there is a very broad interpretation that has
been given to that definition. In order to address those
concerns, the Attorney General issued a directive, which was on
December 7th, more specifically defining law enforcement purpose
and requiring the Attorney General’s approval fof disbursement
to community-based programs. |

As Director Farley indicated, funding of
community-based programs can only occur now on approval of the
" Attorney General and when'there was substantial law enforcement
involvement in these programs. There must be a filing of
details supporting documentation with the Attorney General’s
Office when forfeiture moneys are expended. There are deadlines
established for filing fiscal and compliance auditing reports.
There is the requirement of establishing an inventory»system
that tracks the location and disposal of all forfeited property;
and there is a requirement that all seized money be deposited in
a Law Enforcement Trust Account and maintained by the
prosecuting agency's funding entity. I think that was probably
the case in almost all of the prosecutor;s offices, if’not'ali.

It’s important to realize that in a time of tight
budgetary constraint, forfeiture funds allow the chief law
enforcement officers in the 21 counties \to ‘make available
necessary reeources to fight crime, train police, and coordinate
and voversee the efforts of the community to build strong
prevention efforts. Examples of some of the ﬁses forfeiture

funds have been put to statewide have been the funding of a
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youth academy ih Union County; the'puréhase, renovation, and
equipment of child advocady centers to enhanée our ability to
support child wvictims, and to .strengthen the criminal
prosecution process; payment of overtime costs for prosecutors’
detectives so that critical investigations are not held hostage
to the rbudgét process; purchase of police vehicles; flak
jackets; computer equipment; investigative software programs;
phones; purchase of Polaroid cameras for local police officers
so that when they respond to a domestic violence inéidénth
they're immediately able to take a photo and show -- when théy
go into municipal court even -- the judge what, in fact, the
officer observed, particularly when the victim herself is
unwilling and afraid} to come in and testify; purchase of
culposcopes for pediatricians examining child abuse victims;
training progréms and seminars for assistant prosecutors and
detectives to ensure their professionalism.

One of the issues that has been addressed is the
annual conference. It is the only time that all of the
assistant prosecutors in our individual offices are able to come
together to discuss matters of importance, to be trained
together, and to have an opportunity to have a colloquy on
issues that they must deal with everyday.

Each of the 21 counties is unique in its demographics,
its crime problems, and its needs.. Each of us has the
responsibility as the chief law enforcement officer in that
county to analyze and prioritize those needs and to develop a
policy that we believe is most effective in addressing the

problem of crime in our communities.
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Forfeiture funds allow the proschtor.the leeway to be
creative and'innoVative and to come up with proactive solutions
when local politics, local fiscal problems get in‘the way. It
is also important to understand that the individual really moet
able to make a sound judgment as to What is necessary to most
effectiveiy fight crime in his or her community is the county
prosecutor. There have been legitimate concerns about the
amouﬁt-of discretion which has been afforded. We believe those
concerns have been addressed by the directive that was issued by
the.Attorney General last week.

_ k_We believe that the system itself has built-in checks
and balances which assures‘that abuses do not go unnoticed. But
it is important to ensure that it is a measured and'rationel
response'to legitimate public concerns, so that we don’t throw
out the proverbial baby with the bath water.

Forfeiture is alhighly effective crime fighter’s tool.
It provides additional deterrents to those who weuld be involved
in criminai activity or those who would choose to ‘overlook
same,  such es landlords who knowlingly fail to evict tenants who.
have turned their residences into crackvhouses.‘ It permits law
enforcement to utilize the proceeds or instrumentalities of
crime to obtain additional resources, equipment, and training,
thereby ironiCally transforming the resourees of the criminal
into the resources of the crime fighter. It provides taxpayers
with much needed relief by easing the strain on munidipal and
¢ounty budgets.

Finally, it providee prosecutors with a measure of

fiscal autonomy that allows important crime fighting efforts and
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policy initiatives to move forward without being held hostage to
the budget process. |
Thase are my comments, and I’'d be glad_to respond to
any questions. A |
SENATOR KOSCO: Okay. Good.. Do you have anything to

add to that? |

. MR. MESSANO: Yes, Mr. Chairman, if I may. I've been
asked to be here today, because I have been acting, for the last
four months, asvthe Committee Chairperson for the Prosecutors
Association Ad Hoc‘ Committee on Forfeitﬁfe; - I wanted to
indicate to the Committee that the Prosecutors Association has
been working hand in hand with the Attorney General’s Office and
with the Division oﬁ Criminal Justice, and the directive which
was released by Attorney General Poritz on Thursday is a
directive that we feel we have contributed to direcﬁly, both in
its substance and in its.‘design. We understand, I think,-
probably better than most that a very valid public policy is
under rscrutiny' because of some examples which;'we’ ourselves
perhaps have to accept as not being a proper use Qf funds.

| However, we think that_it is entirely wrongheaded to
take a very valid public policy and use one or two examples to
entirely effect some kind of radical change on the policy.
Right now, and espécially since the directive that was released
on Thursday, we believe that it’s quite clear that all of the
uses of these fundé are to be used for law enforcement purposes.
-The examples that both Director Farley and Prosecutor Ransavage
have given you I’'d like to supplement just by indicating to you
that I’'m the prosecutor of a fairly large, highly urbanized

county, Hudson County. I can only tell you what kind of an
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effect eome of the use ‘of these funds has had on programsvthat
I deem to be vitally important to crimevprevention and law
enforcement in'general in Hudson County. |
' Were it not for the ability to fund, for example,.the
training of staff at thevJersey City Medical Center and the
Hudson County Probation Department, we would not have a program
in Hudson County that we have today which strives to get those
male batterers who have been convicted of domeetic Violence
offenses into some kind of psychological counseling. To some of
you it may seem like a fairly easy ground ball kind of question
that you want to get to the psyche of a male batterer, and in,
fact you have been funding programs throughout this State
because you have the ability to do that. We never were able to
do that in Hudson County. Were it not for the fact that we were
-able to free up and use‘some.forfeiture funds, we wouldn’t have
such a program. ‘ »
The D.A.R.E. Program, which I know, Mr. Chairman,

you'fe familiar with: In Hudson County, in 1991, when I became

the prosecutor, we had four officefs trained in D.A.R.E., if you
.lcan believe that. We now have over 100. Each and every one of
those attended the regional training center‘in Mahwah through
the use of forfeited funds because the local departments simply
}wereh’t able to free up the moneys to have those officers
traihed. I'm happy to say that we now have the D.A.R.E. Program
in every single elementary sehool in Hudson County. I can go
on. | ‘ N

The point I want to make, and as it relates

specifically even to the budget of the county prosecutor, Mr.

Chairman, you asked a question of Director Farley regarding the
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use of these fundé above and beyond the budget. I can tell you
that I’'m about ready to submit the fifth budget that I’ve had
the pleasure of submitting to my Board of Ffeeholders for
operating expenses for the upcoming year. I have not gotten a
single dime of increase in funds in four years, and I don’t
anticipate that I'm going to get another -- any increase in
funds in my opetating expenses for next year.

Clearly, each and every innovation that we’ve been
able to wutilize, both in my office, in terms of‘ the
computerizatiqn df my office and whatever else you want to look
at, as well as what’s going on in these community-based programs
and within thevlocal poliée departments, simply would not have
been able to occur were it not for the use of some of these
forfeiture funds.

.I would also indicate to you, lastly, that the
prosecutor really 1s in the best position to coordinate the
government’s efforts towards the use of thése'funds. I think
you alluded to earlier, Mr. Chairman, the»possibility of having
some other -- the funds going somewhere else other than a'
dedicated Law Enforcement Trust Fund. I think we should
. confront that issue head on by saying simply that if, in fact,
that was the way the. district should go, there would be no
guarantee in my mind that the kinds of programs that we feel we
need to address public safety would in fact get funded. Nor do
| I‘think that it.would behoove anybody in government to request
that there be some other additional layer of government involved

in the forfeiture aspect.



Quite frankly, if this -- the job ofkforfeiting these
funds were left to someone other than the»county prosecutor, I
think it would create somewhat of a nightmarish situation.

Let me give you an example: If, in fact, we were
going to look to county counsels in the various 21 counties to
~affectuate forfeiture actions, they would in fact'be starting
separate actions, actions that ére already separate from our
criminal actions, but they’d be doing them in their office. We
get- involved in situations with scheduling police officers
sometimes on overtime, for example, to come in repeatedly so
that .theyv could prepare both sides of the case, wheh' in
actuality we ére doing much of the forfeiture action as we are
in fact doing the criminal action. So the duplication Qf
efforts and costé I think are something that cannot be ignored.

Lastly, I think in térms of a coordination of effortsv
we are simply in the best position because of the authority that
has been given to us to coordinate the efforts on a countywide
‘program. |

‘I, for example, have the second largest city, Jersey
City, in my jurisdiction. It accounts for close to 60 percent
of the complaints that come into my office.  Clearly, it
deserves to get the most attention in terms of both the
dedication of funds and the outreach into the community.

- I have another town, East Newark. It has a police
forée of about seven}people. It rarely forfeits any money,
because it simply does not héve that many cases that come in.
Yet, it also has some needs.. It has needs which it simply would
not get. met Were it not for the féct that I was able to

distribute some money out of the forfeiture fund to them. So I
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think that any changés in the system at this point would be
counterproductive. w | |

| 'I think that the Attorney General, quite rightly, has
addresséd. what I think you should be concerned about, Mr.
Chairman, the rest of the Committee should be concerned about;
and that is, with the directive that came out'Thursday, an
~ increased participation in the oversight of the use of the funds
by the prosecutors and a clear statement that while
’community-based'programs are vital, and we do think/théy are
vital, there is a proper place for scrutiny‘ahd ovérsight at the
State level. | A' ' |
| SENATOR KOSCO: Thank you.

Senator Girgenti.

SENATOR GIRGENTI: I happen to agree with what you’'re
saying in terms of the’guidelinéé, and’so forth, that came ouﬁ[
But there is one concern that, I taink, the Chairman_mentioned,
too -- I don’t want to speak for him.

| When you get to the point where a government, - such as
a county or so forth, feels that they’re going to become |
‘dependent on this type of forfeiture money coming in, therefore,’
really cutting into the law enforcement effort-- You know, what
I mean? Because this isn’t a stable source of funding, let’s
say. It could be up and down, and that’s a concern., I
understand the need for this type of programs that you have to
go beyond what you have. But does that creatélan atmosphere
that, therefore; the commitment isn;t made on behalf of the
governing body to put the funds into law enforcement, because
they feel that this pool of money is laying there and you can

use that? Does that became an alternative or another source of
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fundihg and not make the commithent.as.large on behalf of the
governing body? i _

MS . RANSAVAGE: Well, there is always'that'probiem,
‘although I think we all constantiy remind our freeholderé that
in fact it is not.a stable funding source. Therefore,xwe can
ihsist;fwhen we sit down with them to discuss the budgetary
pfbcess; on making sure that they minimally fund our offiées and
'a8sure‘that they purchase items thatvare absolutely réquired for
us to cérry‘but our responsibilities. There obviously becomes
a fine line and a gray area where there are things that.welthink
are important to our budget but fiscal constraints'prevent‘them.
" That’s where foffeiture hés been meaningful ahd helpful to us.
“But I think.always the freeholders are aware of the fact that
it’s not a stablé funding source, and in Hunterdon County the
amount of money that we have is very modest. ‘

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Because, obviously, that figure
could fluctuate, it could be very high at one point and very low
at another. L |
'MS. RANSAVAGE: Yes. | |

MR. MESSANO: I think, if I could also try to answer
the Senatbf's quéstion) there is ciearly a recognition, I think,
by our funding sources that this fund exists. It is indeed a
fine 1line, as Prosecutor Ransavage indicated, during our
negotiations to make sﬁre that we, in fact, are getting what we
think is adequate to run the office.

However, I think that there is also a kind of a
recognitionvby them that there is a certain amount of money that
it’s going to take to run the office. When you*start talking

about whether or not you’re going to be able_to gofbeyond that,



then clearly there ié a recognition, I think on your part, that
this source of funding is available.

HoweVer, we do, as Prosecutor Ransavage indicated) try
‘to tell them that'this}is not anything that is guaranteed.
Clearly, there comes a time when we have to fight for what we
need in terms of making surebthat our offices are capable of
running day in and day out.
| SENATOR GIRGENTI: So basically, also what you said,
the directives that were set forth you have had input in it, and
you were supportive of this new set of guidelines that came
forward 1ast week.

| MR. MESSANO: Yes, I can only indicate to the

Committee that we met both as an Ad Hoc Forfeiture Committee
several times, we met as a group of prosecutorsvseveralvtimes.
Both on the Ad Hoc Committee and in those meetings were
representatives from the Division of Criminal Justice who weré
exchanging our ideas with the Attorney General and likewise
bringing the Attorney General’s ideas to us. I think I speak
for everYone in the Association that we’re very comfortable with
the directive that came out Thursday and believe that it was
certainly the right thing to do at this time. ‘

'SENATOR GIRGENTI: I can understand being in a -
vulnerable position where sometimes discretion could hurt you in
a sense that you would want to have that guiding hand, let’s
say, or someone up there that is looking at you to make sure
that you‘re not growing beyond it.

- Thank you.

SENATOR KOSCO: Thank you.
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I have a question that you had brought up before, when
you were talking about when would it be appropriate for you to
cohfiscate certain things. We have a letter --"we all'received
this, and it was published in the<1Ngﬂ_ﬂ§;§g¥_Laﬂ_ﬂgu;n§l." It
talks about, ih Camden County, how a person was originally
»arrested with a first-degree offense, which carried a 25—year—
minimum sentence, and plea-bargained down to a 10-year sentence
with a 5-year eligibility for parole in return for agreeing to
forfeit all their -- it was‘hundreds of thousands of dollars
worth of value: $400,000 to $500,000 in cash, $600,000 in money
market securities, and 12 properties.

Now, if what you said before that you cannot do this
in order to get a favorable plea>bargaining, and yet this is a
case that points out that it was really done, how do you stop
~this from happening? Is it fair that, you know, if a person is
a cfiminal and guilty of something, why should they be able to
buy their way out of a very serious problem by turning over,
over a $1 million worth of valuable'things? - Does that make them
less guilty? A

MS. RANSAVAGE: Well, I‘'m not sure -- not really
khowingvthe facts in thé case -- I'm not sure that the plea
agreement.was inappropriate, separate, and apart from whether
there was also forfeiture. We are permitted to resolve
‘forfeiture as part of the plea negotiations, and it makes sense
becaﬁse; as Prosecutor Messano pointed out, otherwise you ha&e
two separate proceedings that are proceeding independently. But
nonetheless -- certainly, I can speak from my office, and I
think this is the case everywhere -- we make an assessment as to

what 1is an appropriate plea independent of any forfeiture
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determination and the assistant prosecutor, who handles these
mstters—- v | _ ‘

SENATOR KOSCO: Do you really think that this was
independent of a million dollars -- over a million dollars worth
of assets that were taken, and you really'think that they plea-
bargained from 25—Yearfminimum sentence to a 5-year eligible for

parole and that this wasn’t taken into consideration?

MS. RANSAVAGE: Well, I don’t know that. = The fact

is-? | » -
SENATOR KOSCO: Let’s be logical. Let’s not be
 lawyers, let’s be logical. (laughter) Do you realiy think --
let’s feally think -- that this did not enter into their mind

when they were making this égreement, that “Let’s see, we have
over a million dollars worth of assets, but we won't even think
aboutlthat. Let’s just pléa—bargain this guy”? He  wasn’t
guilty anymore of the 25-year first-degree crime. Now he’s only
guilty of a 5-year sentence, and they weren’'t thinking about
this million plus dollars worth of assets? « | |

~ MS. RANSAVAGE: I think-you'd have to speak to the
prosecutor who authorized that plea agreement. I don't havé the
facts. I assume that there are proof issues that‘wevexamine to
.determine what is an appropriate'plea.

SENATOR KOSCO: How do we stdp this type of thing from
happening? I mean, that’s my point. How do we make a person
less guilty because they haVe a whole lot of assets and a guy
off the streets, who has nothing and is driving around in a 1982
Oldsmobile that you don’t really care whether YOu want or not,

doesn’t get the 25 years reduced to 5 years? How do we stop
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- that from happening? How do we separate it? I don’t know how
to do it, I’m asking a real question. How do you--

SENATOR O’CONNOR: Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR KOSCO: Yes.

SENATOR O’CONNOR: At the risk of maybe being a lawyer
and logical, (laughtér) I would suggest as a former assistant
prosecutbr that in this whole area df'plea bargaining, there are
many, many things that go into it. For example, and I don’t
have any kndwledgé of that case other than what we read in this
article. We don’t know, for example, that there might have been
an unlawful search and seizure. There might have been a motion
to ‘suppress -that ‘'was pending that could have come out
unfavdrably to the prosecution, and if it.did,-their caSé could
look entirely differént than it would have beforehand. We don’t
know, forvexample,/whether the witnesses wére'going to hold up.
There are a whole lot of considerations that they weigh in
arriving at what would be appropriate. So they might be willing
to take a lesser plea in order to be sure that they have a
conviction. |

'SENATOR KOSCO: Okay.

MR. MESSANO: Mr. Chairmén, if I could also just kind"
' ofv follow-up on what Sehator O’Connor said. It 1is very
difficult not to reach the conclusion that you have reached.
Because, quite frankly, there are two things going on at the
- same time. Thefe is the criminal case, there is the forfeiture
‘case. I can ohly tell you that in my office we don’t discuss
the issues of money in terms of forfeited assets until there has

been a plea bargain struck.




Quite frankly,: under our 1law, we have to file
forfeiture actions within_90‘days. So we’re put in a éituationv
which means basically we have to start that clock running,
otherwise we forever would be foreclosed from recovering any
éssets. So that the consequences of that are, therefore, that
we initiate the aétion while the case is going through the
criminal process, Which unfortunately, in Hudson County, it
doesn’'t get wrapped up in 90 days and iJl most counties it
doesn’t get wrapped up in 90 days. So now we’re put in this
situation of really trying to evaluate the criminal case.

I would be remiss if I didn’t téll you there are casesv
in Hudson County where people have been indicted under the
Kingpin Statute, which is the 25-year mandatory minimum statute,
and we have allowed them to plea to something less than that.
That takes into aécount our discretion, both in as a charging
entity and in terms of what we see is the value of the case and
the poSsibility of ultimately convicting that person. I can
only tell you, in my shop, we don’t discuss those issues, and we
haven’t had a million dollars seized either, as a matter of
fact. Most of our cases involve $5 and $10 that are taken on
the street corner. _ o

SENATOR KOSCO: Well, this one happened to take place
in Camden County. | ‘

MS. RANSAVAGE: Well, I think what I was trying to
say is that actually they’re given a iower level of proof to
seize assets and to forfeit asSeté, which is simply to show that
by preponderance of the evidence, they were involved in criminal
activity. The case may very well have been, once analyzed --

there was a stronger case to seize those assets than there was
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to convict on the first-degree offense because of proof prdblems
- Or suppression problems in terms of evidence. So those are all
the factors that have to be considered when an offer is made.

SENATOR KOSCO: Thank you.

Any other gquestions?. (né response)

Thank you very much. |

' MS. RANSAVAGE: Thank you.

MR. MESSANO: Yoﬁ’re weléome. .

SENATOR KOSCO: We have John Paff from F.E.A.R.
JOHN T. PAF F: Good morning, Mr. Chairman and member
of the Committee. ‘ | | _

SENATOR KOSCO: John, would you do me a favor and
please ekplain the purposes and the goal of your organizatién
called F.E.A.R.

MR. PAFF: Yes, F.E.A.R., Forfeiture Endangers
American Rights, is a grassroots-- |

SENATOR KOSCO: What is that?

MR. PAFF: Forfeiture Endangers American Rights.
We)re based in Mill Valley, California. I'm the New Jersey
Coordinator and one of foﬁnding members of the organization. We
believe.eésentially thét forfeiture laws give prosecution an end
run aroﬁnd the Constitution and the Bill of Rights, and there
are' a iot> of _problems inherent in an 1in .rem forfeiture
proceeding. We’d like to see these laws reformed.

I have a prepared statement. that I'1l read inb a
minute.  I’d like to touch on the issue that you just raised,
Mr. Chairman, about the buying or the consenting to a forfeiture
of assets to facilitate a favorable disposition of a related

criminal matter. The Camden County case in not an anomaly.
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In 1994, there was Ea'case in Middlesex County --
Prosecutor Gluck; It was reported in the Home News that
'$357,000 was seized and three‘ men were arrested for drug
transactions or drug possession. They worked it “out” és part
of a plea arrangement'whereby the defendants would forfeit“their
interest in the $357,000 in exchange for the State consenting to
a dismissal of the criminal charges. -

In Somerset Coﬁnty, New Jersey, James Defray,
(phonetic spelling) was arrested for possession of $700 worth of
cocaine. Within 36 hours after his arrest, the charges were
dismissed provided that he signed over two lots in Hunterdon .
County worth $170,000 to the County of Somerset.

An articie recently came out within the last tWo.
months in the Bgston Globe that states that it is standard
operating procedure in Massachusetts that people -- they go to
the prosecutor with their assets, and according to the amount of
assets they have, they’re able to buy themselves a faverable
criminal disposition. This leads to a horrible result that
those people who have money are able to get themselves out of
the criminal Sentence where those people who don’t have money,
the 1ittle»guy, gets locked down. This is one of the big
problems with forfeiture. It all comes out of the same problem
-- is»that we have a system here that allows prosecutors to
financially -- their offices ﬁo financially benefit from the
forfeiture, and we don’t require those prosecuters to prove
anybody guilty of having done anything wrong. It is a system
that’s designed to be abused. It’s a system that as night

follows day; abuse will follow from forfeiture.

¥ NewJersey State Library



I'll continue with’my statement) which is addressing
~ the issue of how the prosecutors are spending'the money .

On. October 1, 1995, The Bergen Record ran a story
entitled “On the Trail of Dirty Money,” which described-some of
the ways county prosecutors and local police agencies spend
funds gained through the State’s asset forfeiture statute. The
story is replete with specific examples, including Essex County
Prosecutor Clifford Minor’s use of forfeiture funds to host a
staff retreat at a stately South Jersey golf resbrt,'and other
prosecutors use “fdrfeiture money to péy a total of about
$200;000 a year toward their annual Atlantic City convention
attended by huhdreds of assistaht prosecutors and their
families.”

In response to' the revelatiohs uncovered by The
Record’s article, this Committee scheduled hearings to determine

what could be done to rectify this abusive and Sffensive

situation. The Attorney General’s Office responded on December

7, 1995 by adopting guidelines restricting the prosecutor’s use
of forfeited funds. Appareﬁtly, this Committee is'supposed to
believe that because of these newly adopted guidelines,
legislative oversight of the forfeiture funds  is ho longer
needed.

Under Title 13, Chapter 77 of the Administrative Code,
which was first adopted in 1988, the Attorney General has the
authority to audit the forfeiture accounts of any law
enforcement agency in the State. Further, the same Code chapter
requirés local police agencies and county;prosecutors to submit
a quarterly report on their expenditures of forfeited cash.

Despite its authority and responsibility to hold law enforcement
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agencies and county prosecutoré accountable for forfeited fund
expenditures, the Attorney General’s Office has failed to do so. -
Consider‘the:following.paragraph in an editorial written by
Carol Hunter of the Bridgewater Courier-News on November 28,
1993: | '

“When we askedﬁ -- this is a quoté frdm the paper --
“when we asked for a county-by-counﬁy list of the amount of cash
and propérty seized, the> Attorneyv General’s Office;'finally
produced one list, for 1992 only. We were told that that report
was compiled after three days of effort by the Attorney
General’s Office staffer. No reports for earlier years. were
available -- although they should be, if only minimal ovérsight
were being performed.” . ' |

| On December 7, only a few days before this hearing was

scheduled, thebsame Attorney Géneral’s Office that has beeh
asleep at the wheel since 1988 announces that it has,adopted a
new set of guidelines “to énéuré,and enhance public confidence
in the manner in which seized and forfeited property and moneys
are handled.” If the Attorney General’s Office was really
concerned about'accduntability and public confidence, it would
_have been. more closely monitoring the forfeiture funds all
along. I question the timing of the AttOrnéy General’s action
and suspect that it has more to do with placating this Committee
than with prémoting ‘public confidence in 1law enforcement
accountability.

If this Committee wishes‘to\stop law enforcementfs
abusive expenditures of forfeited cash and assets, it will
promote amendments to N.J. Statutes 2C:64-6 and 2C:64-7 that

will remove the requirement that forfeited funds be dedicated to
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-iaw enforcement purposes. Such an amendment would make thev
forfeiture revenues the unrestricted property"of the'funding
‘entity, requiring-law éhfqrcement agencies to get their:funding
through the regﬁlarAapprdpriations process. This is how éVery
other agency is funded, why  should law enforcement be any
different? | |

.if'this Committee fails in this régard‘and continues:
to trust the sleepy Attorney General’s Office to mind the store,
I predict it will be reading another front-page article in a few
.months or years from now showing that forfeitufe‘ﬁund‘abuse is
continued unabated. |
7 They have had the 'authority since 1988 to do
'everything that they are supposed to be doing, what now they séy
they’re doing. They have not kept proper reports; they héve not -
- noted the absence of reports by county'prosecutors; they havé
not noted, as the attached editorial says, that the forfeiture
reports ére‘missing;'that the forfeiture reports are not filed
on a timely basié. Now they’re Saying that we have to do a new
procedure, but I don’t have any confidence that they’revgoing to.
be able to monitor that new procedure anymore than 'they
monitored the old one. |

I don’t think the Attorney Genefal's Office is where
we should look for: public accountability. I think'the best
place is at your lccal office. I think that Mr. Farley stated
that we want to héve to put the money‘in the local hands. Well,
1etfs turn it over as uhrestricted to the muﬁicipalities and to
thé,counties. - If these programs that they’re doing that law

enforcement wants to do are so good, and they have the merit




that'they say they have, theylshould be'able'to convinée‘the
funding entities to appropriate money for thoée purposes.

The money should be in the hands of the funding
entities, the bodies that are responsive to the citizens of that
counﬁy, the elected officials, not to an appointedfprosecutbr.
That is essentially my contention. |

I think that the statute has to be changed.

SENATOR KOSCO: Thank you.

Does anyone have any questions? (no response)

Senators, any questions? (no response)

Thank you very much.

MR. PAFF: Thank you. ]

SENATOR KOSCO: Is there anyone else who would like
to-- | | o

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Just one question.

SENATOR KOS('0: Senator. |

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Just, Mr. Paff, if I may, what are
you saying are in youf opinion permissible uses of this money?

' MR.‘PAFF: Permissible uses of the mbney? It is hard
for me to answer that question, because I don’t really feel that
" the concept of forfeiture that it is -- the civil asset
forfeiture is a good thing to begin with. But if we have it and
" the money is there, I think a permissible use of it would be for -
real, wha: people would consider traditional law,enforcement‘
expenses. »‘ '

See; I guess my major problem with this is that the
law says -- the Code says that the funding entity is not allowed
to anticipafe the availability of forfeiture funds Qhen it’s

preparing the budget‘for the law enforcement agency. Meaning
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that all the money that comes in fof forfeiture is essentially
extra money beyond and above what the law enforcement Stated
needs are. |

| I know that Prosecutor Ransavage commented twiée on
the undesifability‘ of having 1law enforcement budgets held
hostage to this appropriations process. I don’t think that is
"a bad thing. I think that law enforcement-- There. is
definitely a need for law enforcement, and law enforcement needs
funding. But when they get -- the law enforcement currently can
approach the Freeholder’s Board or the Township Council and say,
"These are'our»needs.‘ You’re not allowed to anticipate that we
are going to be getting additional money through forfeiture even
though we will. You’re not allowed to anticipate that you have
to give us what we need and then fOrfeitﬁre money comes in,"
which is essentially gravy on top of what. . they’ve already been
appropriated. v

| Then we’re surprised that they used this money for

things like junkets to South Jersey golf resort and things.along
those lines. This is not surprising to me, and I don’t think it
should be surprising to the Committee. There shouldn’t be -- it
shouldn’t be extra money. It should be all to the funding'
entity, and then let law enforcement and the funding entity
decide what is appropriate for law enforcement’s purpose.

When you dedicate this to law enforcement and then
don’t let the funding entity discount the amount of money that
you give‘to-law enforcement, anticipating forfeiture révenue,
you’re going to have this problem forever, up until such time as
that’s changed.

I hope thatvanswers your question.
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SENATOR KOSCO: Any other questions?' (no respoﬁse)

Thank you. | | | | |

MR.. PAFF: Thank you.

SENATOR KOSCO: Anyone else who wants to make any
comments peftaining to this? (no response) |

| If not, we’ll have an opportunity to review what has

been said and probably have another hearing at another ﬁime --
~after the first of the year, probably, because this year is
~pretty well finished as far as legislative actions are
concerned.

So we’ll have an opportunity to review this. = The
Committee will review it. We might be sending out some
questions, asking for more answers to certain things, and we’ll
get back to you.’

We thank you very much for participating.

Thank you.

(HEARING CONCLUDED)
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Better records needed
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elume by the Somerset County prosecutor.
‘The forfeiture process allows law enforcement

‘" officials to seize cash, cars or even houses that they

suspect to be the bounty of criminal activity. For-
feiture Is a civil action; a finding of guilt isn’t
necessary for the property to be seized or even sold.

On Page One of today’s paper, we're beginning a
two-day series about the forfeiture process, focus-
ing in particular on how the Somerset County
Prosecutor’s Office has used the forfeiture law.

Indeed, Prosecutor Nicholas L. Bissell Jr. is
perhaps the state’s most aggressive prosecutor
wben it comes (o pursuing forfeiture of cash and -
mpaty. As reporters Jeff May and Christopher

oo pote, Blasell wears that reputation as & badge
of booor. Since 1987, his office has seized more than
$S million in cash and more than 200 cars.

MAY AND HANN BEGAN RESEARCH ON
this series of stories last summer, gandwiching
their investigation in between other assignments.
Hours of painstaking review of more than 100
forfelture cases ylelded no smoking gun, no cat- »

and-dried cases of abuse of the law ag it is written.

" In fact, Bissell makes a convincing case for his
all-out pursuit of what he believes to be ill-gotten

gains. There’s no provision for proportionality built .

" into the current law, so, while he can seize a truck
used in a $25,000 burglary, he can also seize one
used while stealing $25.

His strategy of “I'll go after everybody” fits lnto
his overall tough-on-crime approach to the pros-
ecutor’s job. And [ suspect most people in Somerset
County appreciate the fact that he’s belped give the
county a reputation among drug dealers and other
criminals as a place to avoid. f

The reporting by May and Haon did turn wp.
several cases that raise questions about whether
the forfeiture law itself nbould be chanzed. though.
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repeatedly about the aggressive pursuit of for~ .
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Few would di.sagree with the law’s overriding aim:
to deprive drug kingpins and the like of million-
dollar houses, or million-dollar defenses when
they're caught. But the forfeiture process can vio-
late two bedrock principles of our judicial system:
that you're innocent until proven guilty, and that
the punishment sheuld fit lﬁe crime. We'll explore
those Issues in an editorial in Monday's paper,
accompanying the second part of the series.

One of the most troubling aspects of what May

-and Hann discovered in their research was not

what the forfeiture records showed, but what they
didn't show. Literally millions of dollars pass
through forfeiture accounts In every county in the

state; yet many ‘of the records were incomplete.-
* As one example: There was no final disposition

.record for many of the seized cars. Some were

listed as sold, but if the cars were returned to
defendants or junked, the paper trail vanished.

The attorney general’s office requires that pros-
ecutors submit quarterly reports.and annual audits
on forfeiture accounts. But the state does few
systematic checks to detect whether the records
are late or incomplete.

Twice, Somerset's quarterly reports were sub-
mitted all at once long after the year ended — and
an official in the attorney general’s office lauded
Somerset as one of the state’s best in terms of -
" record-keeping and accountability. Middlesex only ;.
recently completed audits for 1991 and 1982.

When we asked lor [} county.by-county list of t.he

LA .m ¢ 51 ‘

. ‘only. We were told that the report was complled .
. after three days of effort by an attorney general's ' '}
o

_ mal ovenlght were belng pertormed.

‘avallable for public inspection at county offices.’

" them. We can write about denial of access to public -

’3‘8&0&

general's office ﬂnalry pmduced one lls(. ﬂor, 1992_. . % .

office staffer. No reports for earlier years were
avallable — although they should be, ﬂlv only minf- | £
Wi g
" EVEN MORE ALARMING WAS THE RESIS-' | ¢«
tance Hann and May encountered from a few offi- : -
" cials. The Hunterdon County Prosecutor's Office ! . .°
refused to provide information on its forfeiture . -
accounts, saying we'd have to get that Informnation -
from the attorney general’s office. That's silly.
Once cash or property is seized, it becomes the
public’s’ business, and those records should be

It may sound as if I'm whining because having to
argue for public records or track down missing
information caused extra legwork for my report-
ers. That certainly didn't please me. But my bigger
concern 13 the treatment of John Doe when he
walks in and asks to look at forfeiture records, as is
every cltizen’s right. :

Ourneportenbave!hepoﬁrbﬂhepmﬁehlnd'

records, or even have the newspaper’s lawyer sue
an official or agency. With average citizens, I fear .
that, when their request for a record Is rebuffed,
they might become intimidated and walk away :
from their rights. ;

Millions of dollars in cash and property are at
stake here, and abuses have been documented.
Former Salem County Prosecutor Frank F. Hoerst .
111 pleaded guilty to theft for spending forfeiture- - _
fund money on trips for himself and others to -
~Florida and Cali!ornla and {or cash advances. i

" In short. the state must demmand lhat !orfeltm &‘f By
records’ be accurate and complete.”And "those™ =
records must be avalhble lor ublic ﬂnspectlon. e
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